FILE COPY

DO NOT REMOVE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA Docket No. 19-0361

RICHARD OTTO and PATRICIA OTTO Plaintiff's,

VS.

AUG 7 2019

COLDWELL BANKER INNOVATIONS and CATROW LAW, PLLC,
Defendant's

BRIEF FOR APPEAL

Christian J. Riddell W.Va. Bar No. 12202 Stedman & Riddell, PLLC 329 South Queen Street Martinsburg, West Virginia 25401 (304) 267-3949 (304) 267-5411 facsimile Counsel for Petitioner

I.

III. Assignments of Error

- 1. The Court committed reversible and prejudicial error when it ruled in favor of Defendant Catrow's Motion for Summary Judgment and found that Plaintiffs had failed to establish genuine issues of material fact as to the elements of legal malpractice.
- 2. The Court committed reversible and prejudicial error when it found that Plaintiff's expert witness was not qualified to give expert opinion as to Ms. Catrow's breach of the standard of care.
- 3. The Court committed reversible and prejudicial error when it found that Plaintiffs "have not presented any evidence to demonstrate that Catrow law actually received any bulletins or notices concerning wire fraud..."
- 4. The Court committed reversible and prejudicial error when it found that Plaintiffs were precluded from establishing Defendant Catrow law was the direct and proximate cause of their damages because the use of the definite article "the" in relevant case law precludes a finding of malpractice where there was another tortfeasor.

IV. Statement of the Case

The case involves Appellant's Richard and Patricia Otto in their quest to recover funds stolen from them as part of a real estate transactions. The Ottos had planned on making a cash purchase for a home at 535 Rivanna Run, Falling Waters, West Virginia for the sum of \$266,092.00., and had followed the instructions provided to them for doing so, only to have their \$266,000 cash payment diverted to hackers after, presumably, the hackers, surveilling either Coldwell Banker or Catrow Law's email accounts, saw that Ms. Catrow had emailed her wiring instructions to the Ottos via Lynn Frum at Coldwell Banker. ¹ The hackers then sent a follow-up

¹ Although the FBI investigation into this matter never returned any information, it is obvious that the hackers must have been surveilling someone's emails to know that wiring instructions had been sent, and that, as a matter

email to the Otto's from Ms. Frum's email address, and the Ottos, not being made aware of the possibility of scams of this nature and believing the new instructions to be legitimate, followed the new instructions.

On June 13, 2017, Petitioners filed suit against Coldwell Banker Innovations ("Coldwell Banker") and Catrow Law, PLLC ("Catrow Law") for damages incurred by Petitioners after emails between Petitioner's. Coldwell Banker, and Catrow Law relating to lost funds from a real estate purchase. The case involved Petitioner's realtor, Coldwell Banker, and Petitioner's closing attorney, Tasha Catrow of Catrow Law, and the injury occurred when one or more of the parties emails were hacked into and an individual pretending to be Lynn Frum of Coldwell Banker sent Petitioner false wiring instructions. (See Petitioner's Amended Complaint appendix pg. 887). This action appeared normal and within the accepted course of dealings, and thereby evaded detection because, prior to the false instruction being given, Respondent Catrow had, in fact, sent her wiring instructions to Petitioners without any further instruction or contact, and thus created the impression that this was how Petitioners would expect wiring instructions to be communicated. Despite the fact that the transaction consisted of Petitioner's wiring a significant sum of money, \$266,000, Catrow Law made no effort of any kind to contact Petitioner or otherwise ensure that Petitioner's received the correct wiring instructions and that Petitioner intended to use the correct wiring instructions.

Ms. Catrow's omission in this regard was especially egregious because she had been receiving fraud alert notices from her title insurance company, Old Republic, repeatedly warning all their West Virginia attorneys of the very scam that Respondent's client's suffered in this case.

of basic rationality, it would not have been the Ottos who were being surveilled. Clearly, any hacker engaged in such a task would be surveilling a commercial establishment who regularly conducts real estate transactions, such a realtor or closing attorney, and not random individuals who may not ever be purchasing a home. Because the scam is dependent upon knowing when cash purchases of real estate are being made, it would be necessary to surveille a commercial establishment who would be arranging such cash purchases.

See Old Republic Bulletins, AR appendix pg. 828. Despite these warnings, Ms. Catrow continued to send her wiring instructions by email and made no effort to communicate to her clients, Petitioners, about the dangers associated with sending wiring instructions by email or to be aware of scams involving last minute changes to wiring instructions.

On May 2, 2018, following a confidential settlement agreement between Petitioners and Coldwell Banker, Petitioners filed a Stipulation of Dismissal as to its claims against Coldwell Banker. See Stipulated Order of Dismissal appendix pg. 9.

On October 23, 2018, Petitioners filed a Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint, wherein additional facts about Respondent's relationship with title insurance Company Old Republic were added, including information about Ms. Catrow being an agent-attorney for Old Republic, Ms. Catrow regularly receiving periodic notices and updates from Old Republic, and Old Republic sending three different fraud alerts warning of the scam perpetrated on Petitioners. See Amended Complaint. Said Motion was granted with respect to the additions as to Catrow Law, and the complaint was amended thereafter.

On December 21, 2018, Respondent filed its Motion for Summary Judgment and corresponding Memorandum of Law, alleging that no genuine issue of material fact had been presented by Petitioner's claims. See Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment appendix pg. 18. On January 23, 2019, Petitioners filed their Response to Respondent's Motion. See Plaintiffs' Response on Motion for Sumary Judgment appendix pg. 797.

On February 8, 2019, the Court entered its Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (see appendix pg. 958) The Order found that Petitioner's "failed to present any genuine issue of material fact which would demonstrate that Catrow Law breached a duty of care owed to them associated with the conveyance of the wiring instructions," and that

"Plaintiffs have failed to establish that Catrow Law was the direct and proximate cause of their alleged damages." On February 18, 2019, Petitioners filed their Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend the Court's Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, challenging these assertions as clear errors of law. See Plaintiffs' Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend appendix pg. 971.

On March 21, 2018, Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend was denied. See Order Denying Plaintiffs Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter, AR appendix pg. 1071. This appeal follows.

V. Summary of Argument

The Court committed reversible error when it found that Petitioners failed to allege a genuine issue of material fact as to the elements of legal malpractice, specifically a breach of the duty of care and causation, where there was ample evidence put forward by Petitioners sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact as to every single element.

In doing so, the Circuit Court made egregious errors of law, including (a) finding that an expert must be a West Virginia real estate attorney to qualify as an expert on a closing attorney's duty of care in ensuring the security of wired funds necessary to the transaction, (b) finding that notices warning of the fraud perpetrated upon Petitioners were to be disregarded because Petitioners had not "proved" that Ms. Catrow actually received them, and (c) finding that, as a matter of law, the existence of a co-tortfeasor precludes a finding of causation against an attorney accused of malpractice.

Throughout this process, the Court repeatedly abandoned its duties on summary judgment to ensure, when making all inferences in favor of the non-moving party, that genuine issues of material facts existed as to the claims presented, and instead put himself in the place of the jury,

as a finder of fact, and made his decision largely based on his own preference for Respondent's case over Petitioners'. This was inappropriate, and caused many of the errors alleged above.

VI. Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision

Petitioners submit that Oral Argument under rule 19 is appropriate for this case because it involves assignments of error in the application of settled law as well as a result against the weight of the evidence (insofar as the Circuit Court alleged that there was insufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of material when there clearly was sufficient evidence to do so).

VII. Argument

Standard of Review

An Appellate Court's review of questions of law, such as whether it was proper for a Circuit Court to dismiss a case on motion for summary judgment, is de novo.

"A motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law." Syl. pt. 3, *Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Federal Ins. Co. of New York*, 148 W.Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963).

A "genuine issue" is "simply one half of a trialworthy issue, and a genuine issue does not arise unless there is sufficient evidence favoring the non-moving party for a reasonable jury to return a verdict for that party. The opposing half of a trial worthy issue is present where the non-moving party can point to one or more disputed "material" facts. A material fact is one that has the capacity to sway the outcome of the litigation under the applicable law. Syl. pt. 5, *Jividen v. Law*, 194 W.Va. 705, 461 S.E.2d 451 (1995).

"A Circuit Court's function at the summary judgment stage is not "to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matter but to determine whether there is a genuine issue for trial." Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W.Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (W. Va., 1995) (quoting Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 249, 106 S.Ct. 2505 2511, 91 L.Ed.2d 202, 212 (1986)." As such, "we must draw any permissible inference from the underlying facts in the most favorable light to the party opposing the motion." Id. at 336 (quoting Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 587, 106 S.Ct. 1348 1356, 89 L.Ed.2d 538, 553 (1986); Masinter v. WEBCO Co., 164 W.Va. 241, 262 S.E.2d 433 (1980); Andrick, 187 W.Va. at 708, 421 S.E.2d at 249. Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W.Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (W. Va., 1995)).

Motions for summary judgment are governed by Rule 56(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil procedure, which holds that "[t]he judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." The burden of proof in a motion for summary judgment is on the moving party. See *Painter*, S.E.2d 755 at 758 ("Under Rule 56(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, summary judgment is proper *only where the moving party shows* that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.") (emphasis added). Additionally, "if the moving party makes a properly supported motion for summary judgment and can show by affirmative evidence that there is no genuine issue of a material fact, the burden of production shifts to the nonmoving party who must either (1) rehabilitate the evidence attacked by the moving party, (2) produce additional evidence showing the existence of a genuine issue for trial, or (3) submit an affidavit explaining

why further discovery is necessary as provided in Rule 56(f) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure." Syl. Pt. 3, *Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.*, 194 W.Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (W. Va., 1995).

"Summary judgment is appropriate where the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove." Syllabus point 4, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). In deciding a motion for summary judgment,

In an action for attorney malpractice, the Plaintiff must prove three things in order to recover: (1) the attorney's employment; (2) her neglect of a reasonable duty; and (3) that such negligence resulted in and was the proximate cause of loss to the Plaintiff. " *Calvert v. Scharf*, 217 W.Va. 684, 619 S.E.2d 197 (2005)."

West Virginia is a comparative fault state, and the issue of how much percentage of fault a given Defendant has been explicitly codified as an express question of fact for the trier of fact. Pursuant W.Va. Code §55-7-13d(a)(1), "In assessing percentages of fault, *the trier of fact shall consider the fault of all persons who contributed to the alleged damages* regardless of whether the person was or could have been named as a party to the suit." (emphasis added).

1. THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT RULED IN FAVOR OF DEFENDANT CATROWS MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND FOUND THAT PLAINTIFFS HAD FAILED TO ESTABLISH A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AS TO THE ELEMENTS OF MALPRACTICE.

The Circuit Court erroneously held that Petitioners had failed to allege genuine issues of material fact as to the elements of a legal malpractice claim. The elements for a cause of action for negligence by a lawyer (also known as legal malpractice) are separate and distinct from that of routine negligence action. In a suit against an attorney for negligence, the Plaintiffs must

establish (1) that Catrow Law served as their counsel during the relevant time period for each claim; (2) that Catrow Law breached a duty of care owed to plaintiffs; and (3) that such breach resulted in and was the direct and proximate cause of Plaintiffs' alleged damages. See, *Calvert v. Scharf*, 217 W. Va. 684, 690, 619 S.E.2d197,203(2005) and *Keister v.Talbott*, 182W.Va.745, 748-749,391S.E.2d895, 898-899 (1990).

To establish that an attorney has breached a reasonable duty, it is necessary that the Plaintiffs prove that Catrow Law failed to exercise the "knowledge, skill, and ability ordinarily possessed and exercised by members of the legal profession in similar circumstances" in the performance of her duties. *Keister*, 182 W.Va. at 748, 91 S.E.2d at 898. "In order to prevail in a malpractice action against a lawyer, the plaintiff must establish not only his or her damages, but must additionally establish that, but for the negligence of the lawyer, he or she would not have suffered those damages." *Kay v. McGuire Woods, LLP*, 240 W. Va. 54, 60, 807 S.E.2d 302, 308 (2017).

It is clear and obvious that, contrary to the Court's holding, the evidence collected in the discovery process raises genuine issues of material fact as to whether Ms. Catrow's action met the elements of legal malpractice. Throughout its decisions granting summary judgment and denying Petitioner's Rule 59(e) motion to alter, the Court studiously confused its role in ensuring that that there is a "genuine issue of material fact" as to the elements of liability, with the jury's role in deliberating on and weighing the evidence provided. In doing so, the Court committed clear and obvious reversible and prejudicial error.

Primarily, the Circuit Court took issue with Petitioner's evidence as to the second element, breach of duty. Said the Court, "As far as the second element of proof, the Plaintiffs have failed to present any genuine Issue of material fact which would demonstrate that Catrow

Law breached a duty of care owed to them associated with the conveyance of the wiring instructions." Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, AR (see appendix pg. 958). In support of its position, the Court favorably highlighted just about every fact which might, if presented to a jury, inure favorably to Defendant Catrow (Final Order, p. 9, AR see appendix pg. 958), before attempting to poke holes in every fact which inured favorably to the Petitioners. This, of course, was not the Circuit Court's job on motion for summary judgment, as the only relevant question is whether sufficient facts have been alleged, and sufficient evidence discovered, to create a genuine issue of material fact as to whether a Defendant committed acts for which liability is proper. It is then up to a jury to decide whose evidence carries the day.

In reality, all the elements of legal malpractice were either uncontested in favor of Petitioners, or were contested, but sufficient evidence had been raised by Petitioner's to create a genuine issue of material fact as to the relevant issue. For the Court's edification, Petitioner will now recount the evidence provided as to each element.

A. IT IS UNDISPUTED THAT DEFENDANT MAINTAINED AN ATTORNEY CLIENT RELATIONSHIP WITH PLAINTIFFS AND THAT PLAINTIFFS SUFFERED DAMAGES.

Defendant's motion for summary judgment, like the Circuit Court's Order Granting the same, unequivocally concedes that "the first element for maintaining a legal malpractice claim is satisfied." Defendant also concedes that Plaintiffs suffered the damages they allege in their complaint. As such, no further argument on these points is necessary.

B. A GENUINE ISSUE OF FACT CLEARLY EXISTS AS TO WHETHER DEFENDANT CATROW BREACHED HER DUTY OF CARE TO PLAINTIFFS.

The Circuit Court claimed, at page 7 of its Final Order (see appendix pg. 958), that "As far as the second element of proof, the Plaintiffs have failed to present any genuine issue of material fact which would demonstrate that Catrow Law breached a duty of care owed to them associated

with the conveyance of the wiring instruction." As a matter of law, Plaintiffs would note that it is not their duty to "present," a "genuine issue of material fact," such that they are allowed to proceed to the jury. Rather, it is the Defendant's obligation, when moving for Summary Judgment, to prove that no issue of material fact has been raised which would require a finder of fact – the jury – to resolve. As the Court notes, West Virginia courts "do not favor the use of summary judgment," and as such, "summary judgment is proper only where the moving party shows that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact." *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994).

In its Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs asserted that Catrow law had the following duties to Plaintiffs: (a) "Defendant Catrow had a duty of care to all parties to the transaction to protect the transaction's integrity"; (b) "As owner of the trust account into which the settlement funds were being deposited, Catrow had a duty to ensure the safe and secure transfer of the Otto's money by directly dealing with the Otto's and their bank to insure that all proper protocols had been followed and that the money would be sent to the proper location"; and (c) that "Defendant Catrow had a duty to advise the parties against transferring funds through any insecure methods." Plaintiffs Amended Complaint, pgs 46, 47, and 48(see appendix pg. 781). As such the allegations as to the duties owed are clearly stated in the record.

Furthermore, Plaintiffs allegations of breach are equally clear-cut. Plaintiffs allege, in its

Amended Complaint, that "by sending her wiring account information to Lynn Frum under such conditions, and with the expectation that Ms. Frum was going to email that information to

Plaintiffs, Defendant Catrow breached her duty of care." The amended complaint goes on to list the actions which Defendant Catrow should have undertaken in comporting with her duty of care, including:

- a. Prior to wiring any funds, Plaintiffs should have been personally contacted by Defendant Catrow, or, at a minimum, Plaintiffs should have been advised and alerted by Defendant Catrow to call her office to confirm the instructions.
- b. Although Defendant Catrow appeared to have used an encrypted email, Defendant Catrow, knowing full well that wiring instructions were to be communicated via email, should have taken any and all precautions to determine if Coldwell Banker's and the Otto's emails were encrypted and otherwise secured.
- c. Defendant Catrow should have informed the Otto's as to the prevalence of wire fraud schemes, and that if an email seemed suspicious, they should take no action until they confirmed, by independent means, that the communication was legitimate.

Id. at paragraph 51.

The discovery process significantly strengthened these allegations, particularly through Plaintiffs discovery of the following facts:

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