FILE COPY

SEP 2 3 2019 EDYTHE NASH GAISER, CLERK SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 19-0361

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA At Charleston

RICHARD OTTO and PATRICIA OTTO,

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners,

v.

CIVIL ACTION NO. 17-C-270

CATROW LAW, PLLC,

Defendant Below, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Susan R. Snowden W.Va. State Bar No. 3644 JACKSON KELLY PLLC 310 West Burke Street Martinsburg, West Virginia 25401 Telephone: (304) 260-4947

Facsimile: (304) 263-7110

E-Mail: susan.snowden@jacksonkelly.com

Counsel for Respondent

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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners were the victims of a cybercrime which is commonly referred to as a phishing scheme.² At some point in 2015, an unidentified "hacker" obtained information concerning a prospective real estate purchase of the Petitioners prior to closing. Utilizing an email address similar to that of the Petitioners real estate agent Frum, the hacker sent an email to the Petitioners promising that they would receive a \$5,000 "buyer credit" if they would forward their purchase funds in advance of an upcoming closing date. Subsequently, the hacker sent the Petitioners a set of wire instructions directing funds to an account in New York instead of West Virginia. Intrigued by the "buyer credit", the Petitioners fell victim to the scheme and all of their purchase funds were wired to a fictitious escrow account accessible to the hacker and to date have not been recovered. JA 123; JA 365; JA 367; and JA 1267 ¶ 33. At no point during this process did Petitioners receive any communications from Catrow Law. All of Catrow Law's communications were with the Petitioners' agent, Coldwell Banker. JA 1092 at p. 35; JA 126;

16

² A "phishing" scheme is the fraudulent attempt to obtain sensitive information such as usernames, passwords and personal and financial information by disguising oneself as a trustworthy individual/entity in an electronic communication.

JA 177 to 181; and JA 263 at II. 9-16; JA 275 at II. 14-17; JA 1123 at p. 158, II. 20-21 and p. 160, II. 11-16; JA 228 at II. 19-20 and JA 279 at II. 17-21.

As reflected in the record, Petitioners do not know the identity of the hacker, nor do they know whether their email or that of Coldwell Banker's was compromised. Petitioners did not have a forensic examination conducted of their computer system or email. **JA 12-16 and JA 261-262**. Nonetheless, Petitioners filed suit against Coldwell Banker <u>and</u> Catrow Law alleging that they each violated certain standards of professional care. The cause of action asserted against Catrow Law constitutes a legal malpractice action. **JA 963**.

It is well established in West Virginia that to prevail in a malpractice action against a lawyer, the plaintiff must establish not only his or her damages, but must establish that, but for the negligence of the lawyer, he or she would not have suffered those damages. *Calvert v. Scharf*, 217 W. Va. 684, 695, 619 S.E.2d 197, 208 (2005). The record in this matter reflects that the actions of multiple other parties either contributed to, or were in fact the proximate cause of, the Petitioners' damages, including but not limited to the hacker, Coldwell Banker and the actions of the Petitioners. Thus, the Circuit Court correctly found that the Petitioners did not, and cannot, satisfy the requisite burden of proof to maintain a cause of action for legal malpractice since they did not produce any evidence to demonstrate that "but for" the actions or inactions of Catrow Law they would not have been the victim of a cybercrime. In reaching this decision, the Circuit Court properly applied the law to the facts at issue and did not commit "reversible and prejudicial error".

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Catrow Law maintains that oral argument is necessary pursuant to the criteria outlined under Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure because (a) the parties have

not agreed to waive oral argument; and (b) the petition is not frivolous. Catrow Law further states that this case is suitable for oral argument pursuant to Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure as it involves assignments of error in the application of settled law.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

It is axiomatic in this state that "[a] circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*." Syl. Pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). This Court's review of a trial court's decision is governed by the principle that:

[a] motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law.' Syllabus Point 3, *Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Insurance Co. of New York*, 148 W.Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963).

Syllabus Point 1, *Andrick v. Town of Buckhannon*, 187 W.Va. 706, 421 S.E.2d 247 (1992). *Painter*, 192 W. Va. at 190, 451 S.E.2d at 756, Syl. Pt. 2. *See also Conn v. Beckman*, No. 18-0551, 2019 WL 4257294 (W. Va. Sept. 9, 2019).

As stated by this Court "[s]ummary judgment is appropriate where the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove." Syllabus point 4, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). Syl. Pt. 5, *Toth v. Bd. of Parks & Recreation Comm'rs*, 215 W. Va. 51, 593 S.E.2d 576 (2003).

The Circuit Court did not err in granting summary judgment in favor of Catrow Law. The Circuit Court correctly applied the law enumerated by this Court as it relates to the granting of

summary judgment, the appropriate standard, and found that sufficient discovery had been conducted to establish uncontroverted facts that formed a basis for the Circuit Court's decision.

B. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT PETITIONERS FAILED TO MEET THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF A CLAIM FOR LEGAL MALPRACTICE.

As correctly noted by the Circuit Court in its Order granting summary judgment in favor of Catrow Law, Petitioners' cause of action "against Catrow Law constitutes a legal malpractice claim." JA 963. This finding is supported by the allegations set forth against Catrow Law in their Amended Complaint (JA 781-791) as well as the representations made by the Petitioners in their filings below. Petitioners have not identified the classification of their claims against Catrow Law as a legal malpractice claim as an assignment of error for purposes of this appeal. In that regard, it is undisputed that the matter before this Court is a legal malpractice claim.

In comparison to a standard tort action, the elements of proof necessary to establish malpractice are elevated and more stringent under current West Virginia law. As this Court observed in 2016, the "purpose of this requirement is to safeguard against speculative and conjectural claims." *Rubin Res., Inc. v. Morris*, 237 W. Va. 370, 374, 787 S.E.2d 641, 645 (2016)

Pursuant to the controlling law of this State, in a suit against an attorney for negligence, Petitioners must establish (1) that Catrow Law served as their counsel during the relevant time period for each claim; (2) that Catrow Law breached a duty of care owed to Petitioners; and (3) that such breach resulted in and was the direct and proximate cause of Petitioners' alleged damages. This standard of proof was enunciated by this Court in the oft-cited cases of *Calvert v. Scharf*, 217 W. Va. 684, 690, 619 S.E.2d 197, 203 (2005) and *Keister v. Talbott*, 182 W.Va. 745, 748-749, 391 S.E.2d 895, 898-899 (1990). As noted by this Court in *Humphreys v. Detch*, 227

W.Va. 627, 712 S.E.2d 795 (2011), "the essential elements of a legal malpractice claim are set forth in Syllabus Point 1 of *Calvert* at 712 S.E. 799.

This Court in *McGuire v. Fitzsimmons*, 197 W.Va. 132, 475 S.E.2d 132 (1996), specifically noted that "in a legal practice action, there are two suits: the malpractice against the lawyer and the underlying suit for which the client originally sought legal services, which may be considered a 'suit within a suit'." In that case, the Court noted that a "Plaintiff is required to prove (1) the attorney's employment; (2) the attorney's neglect of a reasonable duty; and (3) that such negligence resulted and was the proximate cause of loss to the client." 197 W.Va. 137, citing *Keister*.

Upon consideration of Catrow Law's Motion for Summary Judgment, the Circuit Court correctly applied the law as set forth by the Court in *Calvert* and *Keister* and held that Petitioners failed to meet the essential elements of a claim for legal malpractice. Specifically, the Circuit Court stated:

In a suit against an attorney for negligence, the Plaintiffs must establish (1) that Catrow Law served as their counsel during the relevant time period for each claim; (2) that Catrow Law breached a duty of care owed to plaintiffs; and (3) that such breach resulted in and was the direct and proximate cause of Plaintiffs' alleged damages. See Calvert v. Scharf, 217 W. Va. 684, 690, 619 S.E.2d 197, 203 (2005) and Keister v. Talbott, 182 W.Va. 745, 748-749, 391 S.E.2d 895, 898-899 (1990).

To establish that an attorney has breached a reasonable duty, it is necessary that the Plaintiffs prove that Catrow Law failed to exercise the "knowledge, skill, and ability ordinarily possessed and exercised by members of the legal profession in similar circumstances" in the performance of her duties. *Keister*, 182 W.Va. at 748, 91 S.E.2d at 898. "In order to prevail in a malpractice action against a lawyer, the plaintiff must establish not only his or her damages, but must additionally establish that, but for the negligence of the lawyer, he or she would not have suffered those damages." *Kay v. McGuireWoods, LLP*, 240 W. Va. 54, 60, 807 S.E.2d 302, 308 (2017)

JA 963.

The Circuit Court appropriately analyzed Petitioners' claims as set forth in their Amended Complaint and determined that they had failed to satisfy two of the three requisite standards for maintaining a legal malpractice claim.³ The Circuit Court found that the Petitioners failed to demonstrate that Catrow Law breached a duty of care owed to them. The Court further found that even if there had been a breach of some unknown duty, Petitioners failed to prove that the actions or inactions of Catrow Law were the direct and proximate cause of their damages. JA 968.

On appeal, Petitioners argue that the Circuit Court "studiously confused its role in ensuring that there is a 'genuine issue of material fact' as to the elements of liability". Petitioners' Appeal Brief ("Appeal Brief"), p. 8. Petitioners maintain that the Circuit Court committed reversible error when it determined that Petitioners failed to demonstrate a genuine issue of fact as to whether Catrow Law (a) breached a duty of care to Petitioners; and (b) was the proximate cause of Petitioners' damages. (Assignment of Error No. 1). Additionally, Petitioners argue that the Circuit Court's reliance upon the proximate cause standard was erroneous. (Assignment of Error No. 4). For the purposes of its Response and the sake of simplicity, Catrow Law will address Assignments of Error Numbers 1 and 4 together as part its discussion of the standards of proof at issue in this matter.

1. The Circuit Court did not err when it found that the Petitioners failed to present a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Catrow Law breached a duty of care to Petitioners.

As noted above, to prevail in a legal malpractice action, the Petitioners must demonstrate that Catrow Law breached a duty of care owed to them. The record reflects that Petitioners

³ With regard to the first element, it was undisputed that Catrow Law was the attorney for Petitioners. Petitioners consented "to Catrow Law PLLC representing them to the extent necessary to complete said real estate transaction, including, but not limited to, examination of real estate title, preparation of all necessary documents and conducting closing." JA 328-329.

failed show that Catrow Law owed breached any duty owed to them. **JA 964-965**. However, Petitioners appeal on this issue is without merit and constitutes a recitation of their "disappointment with the conclusions of drawn by the [Circuit] Court from the evidentiary facts presented by the parties". **JA 1077**. The Circuit Court found that there were no genuine issues of material fact presented by the Petitioners to demonstrate that Catrow Law breached a duty of care owed to them, a finding supported by the record. **JA 964-965**.

As represented by the Petitioners both to the Circuit Court and this Court, Petitioners' entire cause of action against Catrow Law hinges upon one purported standard of care. Specifically, Petitioners argue that Catrow Law "breached her [sic] duty of care by failing to ensure the safe and secure transmission of funds into her trust account despite having known or should have known about the risks of wire fraud." Appeal Brief, p. 31; JA 817; JA 879; and JA 963. After a review of the evidence, the Circuit Court was led to the only conclusion which could be reached: Petitioners failed to adduce evidence and, therefore, summary judgment was appropriate.

In a legal malpractice action, the standard of care for an attorney in performing his or her duty is "to exercise the knowledge, skill, and ability ordinarily possessed and exercised by members of the legal profession in similar circumstances." *Keister*, 182 W.Va. at 748-749, 391 S.E.2d at 898-899 (emphasis added); *West Va. Canine College v. Rexroad*, 191 W. Va. 209, 211 444 S.E.2d 566, 568 (1994).

In light of the forgoing, Petitioners are required to demonstrate that Catrow Law failed to properly ensure the delivery of its wiring instructions with respect to the real estate transaction at issue. The fact that West Virginia is a notice pleading jurisdiction as relied upon by Petitioners in their Appeal Brief is irrelevant and does not lessen their burden of proof. The mere contention

by Petitioners that Catrow Law violated some duty and that issues are disputable is not enough. A party opposing a summary judgment motion may not rest upon the allegations contained in the pleadings, but rather must carry the burden to set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. *Chafin v. Gibson*, 213 W. Va. 167, 174, 578 S.E.2d 361, 368 (2003) and *Ramey v. Ramey*, 183 W.Va. 230, 233, 395 S.E.2d 230, 233 (1990).

Moreover, mere reliance upon supposition or conjecture by Petitioners and their counsel is insufficient to carry their burden of proof regarding liability in this regard. **JA 968**. In *Gibson v. Little General Stores, Inc.*, 221 W.Va. 360, 364, 655 S.E.2d 106, 110 (2007), this Court affirmed a summary judgment where the circuit court determined that the plaintiff had failed to produce evidence sufficient to allow the trier of fact to consider her claims "without completely basing its determination upon pure speculation and conjecture". See also, *McQuade v. Bayless Law Firm*, PLLC, No. 13-0947, 2014 WL 998483, at *2 (W. Va. Mar. 14, 2014).

In the present matter, Petitioners entire cause of action against Catrow Law is based upon conjecture, speculation and their own unsubstantiated opinions as to what Catrow Law should have done with respect to the transmission of its wiring instructions. This pattern of reliance upon speculation by the Petitioners is exhibited from the outset in their Appeal Brief, specifically footnote no 1. Appeal Brief, p. 1-2. Even though there is no evidence in the record, Petitioners attempt to absolve any liability on their part by submitting a theory that they proffer must be taken as true because of "basic rationality" when their opinion as to how the scam against them was actually perpetrated is considered. It is important to note that Petitioners did not present any evidence in this matter to demonstrate that their email addresses were not compromised by the hacker. In fact, Petitioners did not retain a computer forensic expert to review this matter. JA 12-16 and JA 261-262. Moreover, the record is replete with evidence that Petitioners

communicated with the hacker for days from multiple email addresses. JA 365; JA 367; JA 369-370; JA 372-373; JA 375-378; JA 380-382; JA 384-387; JA 389-393; and JA 400-408.

The Circuit Court correctly ignored Petitioners' unsubstantiated allegations, speculation and conjecture when it determined that Petitioners failed to present any genuine issue of material fact which would demonstrate that Catrow Law breached a duty of care owed to them with respect to Catrow Law's conveyance of wiring instructions. The facts at issue are straightforward and demonstrate that to the extent a duty with respect to the wiring instructions was owed by Catrow Law, such was satisfied. In support of same, Catrow Law would direct the Court to the following evidence that is <u>actually</u> a part of the record:

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